1970

## State of Utah v. Roy Lee Poe : Brief of Appellant

### STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

The appellant, Roy Lee Poe, appeals from his conviction of *Murder in the First Degree* in violation of *Section 76-30-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1953*, upon jury trial in the Fifth Judicial District Court of Iron County, State of Utah. The Honorable C. Nelson Day presided, and the appellant was sentenced to life imprisonment.

### DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The appellant was charged with the crime of murder in the first degree by information filed in the District Court of the Fifth Judicial District, Washington County, State of Utah. He was first arraigned on January 14,

1966, and entered a plea of "not guilty." Trial by jury was commenced in the first action on March 28, 1966 and concluded April 1, 1966. After presentation of evidence the appellant was found guilty of murder in the first degree and, the jury in those proceedings having made no recommendation for mercy, the Honorable C. Nelson Day, District Court Judge, entered judgment upon the verdict and sentenced the appellant to death by shooting at the Utah State Prison. The appellant was committed to the Utah State Prison on April 18, 1966, to await execution. On May 10, 1966, Judge Day ordered a stay of execution pending appeal to the Utah Supreme Court. The Utah Supreme Court on the 4th day of June, 1966, reversed the decision of the lower court and remanded the case back to the Fifth Judicial Court, Washington County, State of Utah, for a new trial.

The appellant filed various motions with the District Court in and for Washington County, State of Utah, requesting a change of venue from Washington County. The District Court considered the motions, evidence and testimony adduced at the hearings on the request for the change of venue and the Court entered an order changing the venue from Washington County, Utah to Iron County, Utah. The trial commenced on the 12th day of May, 1969 and concluded on the 20th day of May, 1969. After presentation of the evidence the appellant was found guilty of murder in the first degree provided

however, the jury made a recommendation for mercy. Judge C. Nelson Day entered the judgment upon the verdict and sentenced the appellant to life imprisonment. The appellant was committed to the Utah State Prison on the 22nd day of May, 1969.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant submits that the conviction should be reversed, and that a new trial be granted.

### STATEMENT OF FACT

The following is a summary of the evidence offered at trial. Mr. Kenneth Hall was shot twice through the head by a firearm, presumably a .22 calibre rifle. (Tr. 440). The body of the deceased was found late in the afternoon of November 9, 1965, when his brother, Leland Hall, obtained access to the deceased's home near St. George, Utah, by breaking into said home (Tr. 190). The deceased was found on his back, his arms crossed, one arm over the other and situated on the upper portion of his body (Tr. 191). Leland Hall identified the body as that of his brother, Kenneth Hall. Leland Hall further testified that Kenneth Hall had been a resident of St. George for some years.

Various investigating authorities commenced an investigation and a search of the deceased's home on the 10th day of November. The local peace officers were aided by Lt. Clarence Evans, Salt Lake County Sheriff's

Office, and Capt. Ferris Andrus, Salt Lake County Sheriff's Office. Capt. Andrus testified that there were fingerprints taken and Lt. Clarence Evans testified that there were not any fingerprints taken. Numerous photographs of the area were taken. The photographs included the outside portions of the house, the inside portions of the house and the general area around the house of the deceased (Tr. 462-500).

The deceased's body was taken from the home and transported to Utah Valley Hospital in Provo, Utah (Tr. 405-510). Dr. Wilford Le Cheminant removed two fragments of metal from the deceased (Tr. 435). The metal fragments were shipped to the Federal Bureau of Investigation and Richard J. Poppleton, a special agent for the F. B. I., identified the fragments as rifle slugs. Mr. Poppleton stated that the two slugs had the same characteristics as some bullets which he tested from a .22 calibre rifle that had been loaned to the deceased and which was State's Exhibit 22 (Tr. 563).

LaVar Hall testified that he went to the residence of Ken Hall on November 6, 1965. He testified that while at the residence of Ken Hall he saw Roy Peterson, the defendant in these proceedings. LaVar Hall testified that he was indebted to Ken Hall and that on the 6th of November, 1965, he gave Ken Hall \$25.00 for a freezer (Tr. 262, 264). Eldon Hafen testified that Kenneth Hall came into his store known as the O. K. Tire

Store in St. George, Utah, some time in the afternoon of November 6, 1965. Mr. Hafen stated that Roy Poe was with Ken Hall at the time he came to the store provided, however, that Roy Poe did not come into the store. Mickey Clark testified that at the time Ken Hall was in the store of Eldon Hafen that he, Mickey Clark, had a conversation with Roy Poe outside of the Tire Store. Mickey Clark testified that Roy Poe asked to borrow \$10.00 so that he could visit his relatives in Las Vegas, Nevada (Tr. 283). Irwin Pace testified that Ken Hall and Roy Poe were in the Sun Bowl Club at St. George, Utah, on November 6, 1965, between 9:30 and 10:00 P. M. Irwin Pace also testified that Ken Hall gave him a ride home in his 1957 Plymouth Station Wagon on November 6, 1965. He indicated that Ken Hall dropped him off at about 10:15 to 10:18 P. M. (Tr. 300).

Vern Phillips testified that Roy Poe was in the Sun Bowl Club on the same evening and that he, Roy Poe, sold him two rifles, one of which was a .22 calibre (Exhibit No. 22) (Tr. 830). The witness then proceeded to give some conflicting evidence as to the conduct of the defendant.

David Holtz testified that Roy Poe came into the gas station where he was working near St. George, Utah, at approximately 11:30 P. M. November 6, 1965 (Tr. 697). Mr. Holtz testified that he filled the car Mr. Poe was driving with gas and overheard Mr. Poe discussing

something about his going to Las Vegas, Nevada (Tr. 700, 703).

Gerald Hickey, a Las Vegas, Nevada, police officer, testified that he arrested Roy Lee Poe in Las Vegas, Nevada (Tr. 509). The defendant waived extradition and the following day was transferred from Las Vegas, Nevada to St. George, Utah by Sheriff Evan Whitehead of the Washington County Sheriff's Office.

During the trial the prosecution introduced several pictures of the deceased. The initial use of the photographs was to establish identity of the deceased and was not in dispute. However, the prosecution continued to introduce the photographs and to exhibit the same to each and every witness. On each occasion the prosecution emphasized the blood on the victim as well as surrounding the victim on the wall and bed covering. The defendant did not dispute that the deceased had been shot twice in the head and died from the wounds. The photographs established these facts upon the first presentation of the same and the repeated presentation and efforts by the prosecution to review the exhibits time and time again with each witness, over the objection of the defense, were unrelated to the culpability of the accused if guilty and were inflammatory.

Byron Lee Wulffenstein, a witness called by the defense, testified that Roy Poe, Kenneth Hall and Mr. Wulffenstein, together with Mr. Wulffenstein's lady

friend, were together on the night of November 6, 1965, until near 10:00 P. M.

Joseph Dean Anderson was called as a witness for the defense and testified that he was a friend of Roy Lee Poe and that on the evening of Friday, November 5, 1965, Mr. Poe was present with him in the Sun Bowl Club at St. George, Utah (Tr. 896, 897). Mr. Anderson further testified that he had a conversation with Mr. Poe about selling some guns. Mr. Anderson testified that Mr. Poe had a conversation with Mr. Vern Phillips and left the Sun Bowl Club with Mr. Phillips, later returning.

Mr. Dean Anderson testified that he was present with the defendant, Roy Lee Poe, on Saturday, November 6, 1965 around 10:00 to 10:30 P. M. (Tr. 900). That he, Roy Poe, and others remained in the Sun Bowl Club at St. George, Utah, until around 11:00 P. M. Mr. Anderson further testified that they went from the Sun Bowl Club to a place known as Pete's Wagon Wheel (Tr. 903). Mr. Anderson then testified that the group drove from St. George, Utah, west toward Nevada. Mr. Anderson testified that he became ill somewhere along the road and that they were required to stop. He testified that he recalls that Mr. Poe was in the group at the time they stopped and was also in the group at the time they arrived in Mesquite, Nevada (Tr. 906). He further testified that Mr. Poe was left in Mesquite and

did not return to St. George with the rest of the group.

The defendant, Roy Lee Poe, took the witness stand and testified in his own defense. He testified that he did in fact know the deceased and that he and the deceased had worked together on a job several days prior to the 6th of November, 1965. He further testified that on Friday evening, the 5th of November, 1965, that he saw the deceased's two rifles in the back of the deceased's car when he had it to the gas station to check the tires. He admitted that he then took the two rifles on that same Friday night and sold them to Mr. Vern Phillips (Tr. 968).

It is important to note that other testimony of the State's witnesses indicated that there was a question as to whether the said rifles were in the deceased's home on Saturday the 6th.

Mr. Poe testified that he spent the day of Saturday, November 6th, with Mr. Hall and during the evening of that day they took their evening meal with Mr. Byron Lee Wulffenstein and his lady friend Wanda. He then stated that after the evening meal that he showed his friends how to bone out a deer. Late in the evening, after 10:00 P. M., he testified that he and Mr. Hall went to the Sun Bowl Club (Tr. 970-975). He last saw his friend, Mr. Hall, when he departed with Mr. Pace. Mr. Poe later left the Sun Bowl Club with his friend Mr. Dean Anderson and a couple of other fellows. They

purchased more beer and after going for a short visit to another bar or club left for Mesquite, Nevada (Tr. 975-978). He was involved in a fight in Mesquite right after they arrived and he testified that he obtained a room for the night and did not return to St. George with his friends (Tr. 979). He explained to Dr. McGregor when he was examined after his arrest that he was hurt in a fight and this was substantiated by Dr. McGregor's testimony and report (Tr. 389-395). Mr. Poe denied that he was involved in any way with the death of Mr. Hall, his friend (Tr. 983).

#### **FACTS RELEVANT TO THE COMPOSITION OF JURY**

The record reflects that the defendant, Roy Lee Poe, was completely unknown by every member of the jury including the members of the potential jury panel. The record further establishes that almost every potential juror and particularly the jurors making up the jury were acquainted with the attorneys for the prosecution and were acquainted with many of the witnesses called for the state.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **POINT I**

The Trial Court Committed Prejudicial Error by Refusing to Allow the Defendant's Counsel to Determine by Direct Voir Dire Examination or by Voir Dire Examination of the Court the Answers to Questions as to the Religion and Re-

**Religious Attitudes of the Prospective Jurors and also the Method of Selecting Additional Veniremen, Thereby Denying the Defendant Due Process of Law Under the Constitution of the United States, Amendment XIV.**

Prior to the selection of the final jury panel the defendant, by and through his counsel, requested that the Court individually voir dire each prospective juror and determine their religion and also determine as to whether or not by virtue of their religion they had established a moral or religious attitude regarding the death sentence in first degree murder cases (Tr. 64). The Court refused to allow the extended voir dire requested by the defendant (Tr. 70). The case of *Witherspoon v. Illinois*, 291 U. S. 510, 88 S. Ct. 1770, 20 L. Ed. 2d 776 holds that a jury from which veniremen having moral or religious scruples against capital punishment are excluded falls short of that impartiality to which a defendant is entitled under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. In the instant case the Court refused to allow the defendant the right to determine the religious scruples and attitudes of the prospective jury members.

Courts are generally agreed that the jurors may be interrogated on voir dire as to whether prejudice exists which is based on racial, religious, economic, social or political prejudices. Courts almost universally hold that such prejudices may be proper subject of inquiry, even though, if established, might not afford ground for chal-

lenge for cause. However, this allows the defense to reasonably and properly evaluate the prospective jurors and to exercise an intelligent and meaningful preemptive challenge based upon knowledge gained from this inquiry.

The Court refused on request in chambers of defense counsel to dismiss Mr. George Milton Sealey, a prospective juror (Tr. 63). Mr. Sealey was a special deputy for a law enforcement agency in Southern Utah and as such admitted to attending various schools, holding himself out as a member of the law enforcement group in Southern Utah or in Iron County. Had the Court dismissed Mr. Sealey for cause the defendant would have been able to make a more meaningful use of his preemptive challenges.

The Court erred in directing the Deputy Sheriff in Iron County, Utah to provide six (6) additional jurors (Tr. 100). *Section 77-28-1* of the Utah Code Annotated provides that juries for criminal trials are formed in the same manner as provided in *U.R.C.P. 47 (g)*. *Utah Code Annotated 78-46-23* provides that if additional trial jurors are necessary, additional names shall be drawn from the box; but if, in the judgment of the Court, the attendance of any drawn from the box cannot be obtained, they may be laid aside and other names drawn. "If all names become exhausted at any term, the Judge may order an open venire for such number

of jurors as he deems necessary, who shall be summoned to serve.”

It is clear that the Judge failed to follow the requirements of the Utah Code Annotated as above set forth in selecting the additional jurors. The proper procedure was to draw the additional names from the jury venire previously prepared and drawn for the county for the existing term of court. However, Judge Day in the instant case directed Mr. Hyatt Bentley, the Deputy Sheriff, to obtain six (6) additional jurors from streets and businesses of Parowan, Utah. Counsel for the defendant properly objected to this procedure (Tr. 134).

In *State vs. Cluff*, 158 Pac. 705, the Court held that under the existing statutes of the State of Utah the venire of jurors for the term must first be exhausted by drawing additional names from the box containing all veniremen. The names of jurors not readily accessible because they reside at a distance may properly be laid aside and other names drawn.

It was an error to disregard the requirements of the Utah Code and to direct the Deputy Sheriff to go into the Parowan area and obtain the six (6) additional prospective jurors to complete the jury panel.

*Glasser vs. United States*, 315 U. S. 60, 62 S. Ct. 457, 86 L. Ed. 680, held,

“A jury should be a body truly representative

of the community or the district from which it is to be chosen. There must not be conditions which lead Courts or officials into selections of juries or jurymen which do not comport with the concept of the jury as a cross-section of the community from which it is chosen.”

Parowan, Utah, the county seat of Iron County, Utah is a small community of approximately 1500 people. Iron County, the general area from which the jury venire is drawn, comprises a much larger area and has a population in excess of 10,000 people. The Court was in error to arbitrarily assume that the persons selected from the small community of Parowan immediately near the court house would be truly representative of the district from which the jury venire is chosen.

The Utah Court has held in the *State of Utah vs. Dodge*, 365 P. 2d 798, 12 Utah 2d 293, that

“The constitutional right to trial by jury is the right to trial by a fair and impartial jury, drawn from the cross-section of the community.”

*People vs. White*, 278 P. 2d 9, 43 C. 2d 740, supports the general rule with the following comments:

“Trial by jury necessarily contemplates an impartial jury drawn from a cross-section of the community and selected by court officials without systematic and intentional exclusion of any of these groups.”

The case of *People vs. Carter*, 364 P. 2d 477, 56 C. 2d 549, set forth on page 489 thereof that the proper method

of selection of jury is by alphabet with no reference to address and goes on to infer that there should be no attempt to exclude any geographical segment of the county's population.

In the instant case the method used by the court in directing the deputy sheriff to obtain additional jurors in the Parowan area was, in fact, a calculated and direct means of geographically eliminating persons who were, in fact, subject to jury service that resided elsewhere in Iron County.

It seems abundantly clear that the court should have recessed the proceedings and directed the County Clerk and other Jury Commissioners to draw from the jury venire the prospective jury panel to supplement the existing jury panel. During the late afternoon hours, evening and morning prior to trial on the following date the Sheriff and/or other process servers could have adequately and timely served the prospective members within the county and required their appearance as prospective jurors. Contrarywise, the court disregarded this requirement and indulged in a method of obtaining six (6) prospective jurors in a manner which was prejudicial to the defendant. The jurors came from the small community of Parowan where the trial was being held and there was a greater opportunity for prospective jurors to have formulated biases and prejudices toward the defendant.

## POINT II

The Trial Court Committed Prejudicial Error by Admission  
of Testimony from Prior Trial

*Utah Code Annotated 77-44-3* provides that when testimony in prior hearing has been transcribed by official Court Reporter and *thereafter such witness shall die or be beyond the jurisdiction of the court*, either party may read in evidence the testimony of such witness, when duly certified by the reporter to be correct, in any subsequent trial, subject only to the same objections that might be made if such witness were on the stand and testifying in open court. (Emphasis added).

In the case of *State vs. Kazda, 320 P. 2d 486, 15 Ut. 2d 313*, the court held that a witness who was outside of the state is "beyond the jurisdiction of the court." It provided, however, that there must be a showing that the witness is in fact beyond the jurisdiction of the court. In the instant case, there was much testimony introduced by the various witnesses in behalf of the prosecution to establish that certain witnesses were outside the jurisdiction of the court. The testimony so provided failed to show that a due, diligent and proper search had been made to determine if the persons were in fact outside of the jurisdiction of the court. The court ruled on at least two occasions during the proceedings that the testimony provided regarding the unavailability of Lewis P. Lagana as a witness before the court in these pro-

ceedings was inadequate. However, the court granted the state and prosecution time within which to make an additional search and recessed for these purposes.

It appears that the general rule in such cases is set forth in *Corpus Juris Secundum, Evidence, Section 393*, which indicates that due diligence must be proven. That is to say, due diligence must be shown on the part of the sheriff and/or other authorities seeking the whereabouts of the witness and that due diligence is so established when there is an issuance of subpoenas and the delivery of the same to the sheriff and a search for the witness with a return of the subpoenas showing an endorsement by the sheriff that the witness could not be found.

A review of the evidence of the parties testifying regarding their efforts to locate Lewis P. Lagana and also Mary Miner clearly establishes that due diligence was not in fact exercised to locate the said witnesses.

*Jones on Evidence, in Sections 313 and 314*, indicates that the seriousness of a criminal matter has prompted some courts to hold that testimony produced at earlier trials may not be admitted even when the witness is shown to be dead. However, there are authorities which hold that the proper procedure is to take the deposition of the witness if he can be found and that the mere absence from the state is not one of the grounds for admitting testimony which has been taken at a for-

mer trial.

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