1970

## State of Utah v. Roy Lee Poe : Brief of Respondent

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR BY REFUSING TO VOIRE DIRE THE JURY REGARDING THEIR SPECIFIC RELIGIOUS DENOMINATIONS.

During the selection of the jury members, counsel for the appellant requested that the Court voire dire each prospective juror to determine his specific religious denomination. This motion was made for the purpose of determining whether any of the prospective jurors had established a moral or religious attitude regarding capital punishment (T. 64). The trial judge decided that it was not necessary to ask each prospective juror what church they belonged to (T. 69). He did ask, however, whether any of the jurors had any "religious" or "moral" scruples with regard to the death penalty (T. 84). The court excused two jurors because they answered yes to the question of whether these scruples would cause them to be prejudiced one way or another (T. 84-85).

It should be noted at the outset of this argument that the appellant was not given the death penalty. The jury recommended leniency, and the trial court sentenced the appellant to life imprisonment. (Jury Verdict; Judgment on Verdict.) This fact renders Point I of Appellant's Brief moot. Even assuming that the court erred by its refusal to ask each

juror what his religion was, the appellant has not been prejudiced in any way. He cannot now claim that the court committed "prejudicial" error.

"After hearing an appeal the court must give judgment without regard to errors or defects which do not affect the substantial rights of the parties. If error has been committed, it shall not be presumed to have resulted in prejudice. The court must be satisfied that it has that effect before it is warranted in reversing the judgment." Utah Code Ann. § 77-42-1 (1953). See also *State v. Seymour*, 18 Utah 2d 153, 417 P.2d 655 (1966).

The appellant has failed to show any prejudice; he has not shown any defect or error which affected his substantial rights since the death penalty was never imposed upon him.

The trial court did not commit error by refusing to *voire dire* the jury regarding their specific religious denominations. In *Witherspoon v. United States*, 391 U.S. 510 (1968), the defendant had been convicted of murder in Illinois. An Illinois statute provided:

"In trials for murder it shall be a cause for challenge of any juror who shall, *on being examined, state that he has conscientious scruples against capital punishment, or that he is opposed to the same.*" 391 U.S. at 512 (Emphasis added.)

The Supreme Court ruled that the effect of this statute was to stack the jury with those who were not opposed to the death penalty. The imposition of

the death penalty was reversed in *Witherspoon*. The Court said:

“. . . in its role as arbiter of the punishment to be imposed, this jury fell woefully short of that impartiality to which the petitioner was entitled under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment.” 391 U.S. at 516.

Under Utah law, a challenge for implied bias may be taken:

“If the offense charged is punishable with death, the entertaining of such conscientious opinions as preclude [the Juror’s] finding the *defendant guilty*, in which case he must neither be permitted nor compelled to serve as a juror.” Utah Code Ann. § 77-30-19 (9) (1953). (Emphasis added.)

The Utah statute is easily distinguishable from the Illinois statute. Under the Utah law, mere conscientious scruples are not enough to challenge a prospective juror. The bias must be sufficiently strong so as to preclude the juror’s finding the defendant guilty. This standard is in harmony with the *Witherspoon* decision. In *Witherspoon* the court never did address itself to the issue of whether or not death-qualified jurors could be excused if their scruples would prohibit an impartial finding on the guilt-innocence issue. *Witherspoon* was limited only to the issue punishment. This is emphasized further by the fact that the Supreme Court affirmed the conviction and reversed only the death penalty. This point alone is sufficient to distinguish *Witherspoon*. In

this case the appellant was not given the death penalty, although he was convicted of first degree murder. This Court can affirm appellant's conviction without having to decide on the basis of *Witherspoon*.

The Nevada Supreme Court, however, has ruled on a statute identical to Utah Code Ann. § 77-30-19(9) (1953). In upholding the conviction the court made the following distinction:

“. . . the rationale of *Witherspoon* is inapposite to the Nevada statute since the statutory purpose is to disqualify jurors whose opinions against the death penalty would preclude their finding the defendant guilty. The Illinois statute considered in *Witherspoon* did not involve the right to challenge for cause those prospective jurors who stated that their reservations about capital punishment would prevent him from making an impartial decision as to the defendant's guilt.” *Howard v. State*, 446 P.2d 163, 165 (Nev. 1968).

This position was confirmed in *Bornes v. State*, 450 P.2d 150 (Nev. 1969).

More recently, this Court has had the opportunity to compare Utah Code Ann. § 77-30-19(9) (1953) with *Witherspoon*. In *State v. Kelbach*, 23 Utah 2d 231, 461 P.2d 297 (1969), the Utah Supreme Court adopted the exclusion of footnote 21 of the *Witherspoon* case. The Court quoted:

“. . . we repeat, however, that nothing we say today bears upon the power of a State to execute a defendant sentenced to death by a

jury from which the only veniremen who were in fact excluded for cause were those who made it unmistakably clear (1) that they would *Automatically* vote against the imposition of capital punishment without regard to any evidence that might be developed at the trial of the case before them or (2) that their attitude toward the death penalty would prevent them from making an impartial decision as to the defendant's guilt." *Id.* at ....., 461 P.2d at 303.

The trial court committed no errors by refusing to *voire dire* the jury regarding their specific religious denominations, especially since the death penalty was not imposed. The specific denomination is not material.

#### POINT IA

**THE TRIAL COURT ACCOMPLISHED THE OBJECTIVE OF DEFENSE COUNSEL IN VOIRE DIRE BY QUESTIONING THE JURY REGARDING THEIR RELIGIOUS AND MORAL ATTITUDES ABOUT THE DEATH PENALTY.**

Although the trial judge did not ask each prospective juror what his religion was, he did inquire whether any juror had "religious" or "moral" scruples about the death penalty (T. 84). The respondent submits that this latter inquiry accomplished the defense counsel's objective to determine each juror's feelings on the death penalty. The fact that a prospective juror is Mormon, Catholic or Jew is not material. Whether one has religious or moral scruples about the death penalty is material. The

judge asked the only question that could have accomplished defense counsel's purpose. By knowing that a prospective juror is Mormon does not mean ipso facto that he is opposed to the death penalty. On the other hand, by asking each juror specifically whether he has scruples, the court and attorneys can then make a determination as to whether these scruples will prejudice the prospective juror. Unless a venireman states unambiguously that he would automatically vote for or against the imposition of capital punishment no matter what the trial might reveal, it cannot be assumed that this is his position. *Witherspoon v. Illinois*, 391 U.S. 510 (1968). Because a person is Mormon, it cannot be assumed that he would vote for the death penalty. It is not necessary that veniremen be asked their specific religion; in fact, the question accomplishes nothing. The judge committed no errors, but rather avoided error by refusing to *voire dire* about specific religions. The defense counsel's objective was accomplished, and he cannot now claim error. It is also significant here that no death penalty was imposed.

## POINT II

### THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN THE MANNER OF SELECTING THE ADDITIONAL JURORS.

Before answering this argument, it should be pointed out by the respondent that none of the six additional prospective jurors summoned by Judge

Day were on the jury which rendered the guilty verdict. Only one was called as an alternate (T. 128) but he was not needed and was excused before the jury deliberated (T. 1063). Even assuming that the judge committed error in the manner of selecting the additional prospective jurors, no prejudice resulted to the appellant. The appellant has not challenged the manner of selecting the jury which actually found him guilty. It must be presumed that this selection was correct and in accordance with the Utah Statute governing selection. Utah Code Ann. § 78-46-23 (1953); *State v. Moore*, 111 Utah 458, 183 P.2d 973 (1947).

It should be pointed out, furthermore, that these additional jurors were summoned only for the purpose of selecting one additional juror for purposes of allowing ten preemptory challenges for each side (T. 91). There were only 31 jurors in the box and one more was needed to allow the preemptory challenges (T. 91). The six were also selected for the purpose of selecting one alternate juror (T. 91). After the jury had been selected, not one of the additional six were on the panel (T. 110). Only one was selected as an alternate (T. 128). There is nothing in this result which could have prejudiced the appellant. The jury which determined the appellant's guilt was a "body truly representative of the community." *Glasser v. United States*, 315 U.S. 60, 86 (1941). Even assuming that the court was in error to select persons from the small community of Parowan, the result was still that the jury *finally* selected

was "drawn from the cross-section of the community." *State v. Dodge*, 12 Utah 2d 293, 365 P.2d 798 (1961).

In criminal cases, where the venire of the jurors summoned for term has been exhausted, and the court directs additional names to be drawn from the box, names of jurors not readily accessible because residing at a distance may be properly laid aside and other names drawn. *State v. Cluff*, 48 Utah 100, 158 Pac. 701 (1916).

The implication of his holding is that jurors may be selected from the immediate surrounding area of the court. Other names may be drawn *until* those not "at a distance" are found. This is in accord with the Utah Statute.

"If during any term of a district court any additional . . . trial jurors shall be drawn from the said box by the sheriff or his deputy in open court; but *if in the judgment of the court the attendance of any drawn cannot be obtained within a reasonable time*, they may be laid aside and other names *may* be drawn in their place and in the same manner. If all names become exhausted at any term, the judge may order an open venire for such number of jurors as he deems necessary, who shall be summoned to serve." Utah Code Ann. § 78-46-23 (1953). (Emphasis added.)

In this case Judge Day determined that because of the time involved, it was more expedient to summon the additional jurors rather than take the time to draw out names when the result would be the

same, i.e., the additional prospective jurors would be from the surrounding area *regardless* of the manner in which they were selected. Those names drawn which could not be summoned within a reasonable time, would have been drawn until those not at a distance could be summoned. It is more expedient in the interest of time and because of the circumstances, i.e., only one additional juror was needed, for the judge to summon the jurors directly. The trial court committed no error, and the appellant was not prejudiced in any way.

### POINT III

**THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR BY ADMITTING CERTAIN TESTIMONY OF THE PRIOR TRIAL TO BE READ TO THE JURY.**

Utah Code Ann. § 77-44-3 (1953) provides:

“Whenever in any court of record the testimony of any witness in any criminal case shall be stenographically reported by an official court reporter, and thereafter such witness shall die or be beyond the jurisdiction of the court in which the cause is pending, either party to the action may read in evidence the testimony of such witness, when duly certified by the reporter to be correct, in any subsequent trial of, or proceeding had in the same cause, subject only to the same objections that might be made, if such witnesses were upon the stand and testifying in open court.”

This statute is clear that, in Utah, testimony of prior trials may be read at a subsequent hearing where

it is determined that the witness is outside the jurisdiction of the court.

The appellant cites *State v. Kazda*, 15 Utah 2d 313, 392 P.2d 486 (1964), for the proposition that there must be a showing that the witness "is in fact beyond the jurisdiction of the court." (Appellant's Brief p. 15). *Kazda* does not contain such a proviso. Nothing in *Kazda* goes to the effort or degree of proof that one must show before the court will allow testimony from a prior trial to be read in a subsequent hearing on the same cause. Respondent submits that this assertion is false and not based on the *Kazda* case. The Court held only that "A witness outside of the state is 'beyond the jurisdiction of the court.'" 15 Utah 2d at 316, 392 P.2d at 488.

The general common law rule is, that, if due diligence to locate a witness has been exerted, and the witness cannot be located, then testimony from a prior trial can be read at a subsequent hearing. *Oklahoma Alcoholic Beverage Control Board v. Lobo*, 391 P.2d 819 (Okla. 1964); *Bird v. State*, 362 P.2d 117 (Okla. Cr. 1961).

"Where the accused at a former trial or at a preliminary hearing once enjoyed his right to be confronted by a witness against him and had the privilege of cross-examining the witness, if at a subsequent trial, involving the same issue, it satisfactorily appears that . . . his [witness'] presence with due diligence cannot be had, . . . or where his whereabouts cannot with due diligence be ascertained, a transcript of the testimony of such witness may be intro-

duced as the evidence of such absent witness.”  
391 P.2d at 821.

The respondent asks this court to adopt this standard of due diligence and hold that the prosecution did with due diligence attempt to locate both Louis P. Lagana and Mary Miner; and that the trial court did not err in allowing their written testimony to be read at the second trial (T. 804, 821).

Both Louis Lagana and Mary Miner testified at the first trial and both were cross examined, or at least defense counsel had an opportunity to cross exam (T. 173). The court reporter also testified that the prior testimony of Mr. Lagana and Mrs. Miner was accurately reported (T. 803), *State v. Leggroan*, 15 Utah 2d 153, 389 P.2d 142 (1964). The defense counsel, furthermore, stipulated to the above (T. 802-803).

Harry E. McCoy testified that he had subpoenas for both Lagana and Miner (T. 163; 167). Mr. Lagana could not be located in Utah or Nevada (T. 167). Mr. McCoy testified that Mrs. Miner could not be located in Utah or Nevada. Mr. McCoy went to Nevada for the purpose of locating the witnesses and serving them with subpoenas (T. 167; 170). Since a person outside the state is not in the jurisdiction of the court, *State v. Kazda, supra*, the efforts of Mr. McCoy were more than "due diligence" within the meaning of the common law rule.

Phillip Lang Foremaster, the Washington County Attorney, testified that he prepared the sub-

poenas for Mr. Lagana and Mary Miner (T. 729). He testified that to the best of his knowledge Mary Miner was in New York (T. 730).

Clark Robison, a deputy sheriff of Clark County, Nevada, testified that Mary Miner had lived in Mesquite, Nevada, but was not living there at the time he attempted to contact her (T. 744). To the best of his knowledge, Mary Miner lived in Eastern United States (T. 745). He concluded that she was not available for service of process (T. 745). He also testified that he could not locate Mr. Lagana for service of the subpoena (T. 748).

Mr. McCoy was again called to testify (T. 750). He testified that Mr. Lagana had taken employment in the Midwest somewhere with the Atchison and Santa Fe Railroad (T. 754). He received this information from Mr. Lagana's previous employer (T. 753).

Sheriff Evan Whitehead, Sheriff of Washington County, Utah, checked the Utah directories for Mr. Lagana and Mrs. Miner (T. 761, 764). He also checked with every sheriff in every Utah county. Each department checked their directories and were unable to locate Lagana or Miner (T. 792-795). There were no vehicles registered to either Mr. Lagana or Mrs. Miner or to the husband of Mary Miner (T. 795-797).

It was only after this showing of due diligence that the trial judge admitted the previous testimony (T. 799; 821). The court did not commit error by its

determination that a diligent effort was made to locate Louis P. Lagana and Mary Miner. As far as the judge was concerned the witnesses were out of the jurisdiction of the court and could not be served. The requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 77-44-3 (1953) were met, and the previous testimony was properly admitted at the second trial.

#### POINT IV

#### THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR BY ALLOWING CERTAIN PICTURES TO BE ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.

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